Minutes of a Meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held at the Hub, Mareham Road, Horncastle, Lincolnshire LN9 6PH on Wednesday, 15th March, 2023 at 10.15 am.

#### **PRESENT**

Councillor Will Grover (Chairman)
Councillor David Andrews (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors Adrian Benjamin, Rosalind Jackson, Jill Makinson-Sanders, and Graham Williams.

Mr George Krawiec and Mr Walter Leschenko attended the Meeting as Independent Co-Optees.

Councillor Stephen Evans attended the Meeting as a Substitute.

#### OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

Christine Marshall - Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) and

S151 Officer

Matthew Waller - Internal Audit Manager, Assurance Lincolnshire

Mark Surridge - Mazars LLP, External Auditor Bethan Frudd - Mazars LLP, External Auditor

Suzanne Rolfe - Group Manager- Insights & Transformation

Elaine Speed - Senior Democratic Services Officer and Civic Officer

Lynda Eastwood - Democratic Services Officer

# **52. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE:**

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Colin Davie.

It was noted that in accordance with Regulation 13 of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, notice had been given that Councillor Stephen Evans had been appointed to the Committee in place of Councillor Terry Taylor for this Meeting only.

# 53. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY):

At this point in the meeting, Members were invited to declare any relevant interests. None were received.

### 54. MINUTES:

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 1 February 2023 were agreed as a correct record.

# **55. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE:**

There was no update from the Chairman.

## **56. ACTION SHEET:**

Members were referred to the Action Sheet that had been circulated on the Supplementary Agenda, pages 1 to 5 refer.

Members noted that the actions from the Meeting held on 1 February 2023 were confirmed as completed or in hand as follows:

Action No. 46 (a) – The Section 151 Officer to circulate an update to Members after the Meeting.

Action No. 46 (b) – The Group Manager – Climate Change and Environment had provided an update, attached at Appendix A, page 5 of the Supplementary Agenda refers.

Action No. 46 (c) – Members were advised that the Capital Programme was being finalised.

Action No. 47 (a) – Members were advised that a confidential briefing was being delivered to Committee after the meeting closed.

Action No. 47 (b) – A letter from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities was tabled for Members' information (a copy is attached at Appendix A to the Minutes).

# 57. ELDC DRAFT 2023/24 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN:

Matthew Waller, Internal Audit Manager, Assurance Lincolnshire presented Members with the Audit Planning Update and Progress Report as at March 2023.

The report set out the Proposed Internal Audit Plan for 2023/2024 and detailed the activities to be audited and the indicative scope for each audit. The draft plan had been presented to Committee to give Members an opportunity to comment on the plan and the priorities that Internal Audit had established.

The Internal Audit Manager highlighted that the audit plan delivered assurance within agreed resources and confirmed that for 2023/24 this was 175 days. Where necessary, the Plan was amended throughout the year to reflect changing assurance needs.

Members were referred to Appendices A to D, pages 44 to 50 of the Agenda refers that provided details of:

- Auditable Activities;
- How the draft plan achieved the requirements of the Board and Head of Internal Audit;
- Internal Audit's Working Protocols and Performance, and
- Internal Audit's Quality Assurance Framework.

Members were invited to put their comments and questions forward.

- A Member referred to the Green Homes Grants and asked for clarification whether this was a key area to be checked, to include what monies had been claimed, the quality of services that had been delivered and any review process would pick up on areas of concern. The Internal Audit Manager advised Members that the team focussed its time on key issues. However, if Members wished for further information on the Green Homes Grants more details could be requested from management to agree to undertake this specific piece of work.
- A Member noted within the report it stated that the fees had been increased to align with the costs or resources provided in carrying out the work and reflected the rates included within the current agreement, following which it was queried how this was proportioned for the three councils across the Partnership. The Internal Audit Manager confirmed that each council had its own audit plan and agreed number of days and assured Members that ELDC was getting adequate coverage. The Section 151 Officer added that whilst the Partnership was mentioned in the report, the systems across the three councils were separate, however were similar for ease of auditing and this was an efficient way of providing resources and reduced demand on officers' time.

Following a brief discussion, a Member asked for clarification as to whether the internal audit fees had been increased. The Internal Audit Manager confirmed that there was no increase in the fees for 2023/24 and the report would be amended accordingly.

- A Member highlighted that in recent years as many as 225 days had been allocated to internal audit and was concerned over such a large reduction for 2023/24. The Internal Audit Manager advised Members that the team no longer undertook housing benefit subsidy work on behalf of the Council's external auditors, which would have reduced the total number by approximately 25 days.
- A Member referred to the ICT Area to be agreed for key areas of focus for ICT reviews and considered that the network down times should be an indicator for why this needed to be an area of focus, particularly on the operational side and not just on risk management. It was further considered that it needed to be fed into the ICT Strategy and be part of the IT service lifecycle and asked to see the terms of reference before the ICT Area was agreed. The Internal Audit Manager responded that he welcomed feedback and the team would gather intelligence and focus on what mattered.
- In relation to Health and Safety as an area to be considered, a Member highlighted that CORP004 on the Risk Register, page 114 of the Agenda refers, stated that 'Health and Safety is included within Internal Audit's Annual Audit Plan. The audit undertaken in 2021 demonstrated a substantial level of assurance.' Therefore, the report needed amending accordingly.

• A Member referred to the audit areas that were rated red in both areas of internal audit risk and assurance map rag rating and asked for assurance that these would be dealt with first. The Internal Audit Manager advised Members that he was working with the Senior Leadership Team and would discuss this further.

No further comments of questions were received.

Following which it was,

**RESOLVED:** 

That the ELDC Draft 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan be noted.

## 58. AUDIT PLANNING UPDATE AND PROGRESS REPORT - MARCH 2023:

Mark Surridge was in attendance on behalf of Mazars LLP, External Auditors, to present the Audit Planning Update and Progress Report – March 2023, pages 53 to 64 of the Agenda refer and introduced his colleague Bethan Frudd who would be taking on Jon Machej's role and attending future Committee meetings.

The report provided the Audit and Governance Committee with updates on:

- The 2020/21 and 2021/22 audits and any significant matters to date, and
- Recent relevant reports and publications for Committee's information (detailed at Section 2). Full details were contained within the report.

Key points were highlighted to Members as follows:

• The Council had a requirement for the first time to produce Group Accounts as a result of the growing activities of its subsidiary company Invest East Lindsey Ltd. Mazars were yet to receive these from management and work over both the Council's consolidation arrangements and detailed testing of any material balances had yet to commence. Furthermore, Mazars had been made aware of a qualification on the accounts of the Council's subsidiary company and needed to discuss this with the Council's officers to fully understand the rationale for this and to consider the implications for Mazars required audit work and impact on its audit report on the Council's Group Accounts.

Two elector queries had been received as follows:

• The receipt of correspondence from an elector relating to the representation and handling of the income from the Business Improvement District Levy, which Mazars formally accepted an objection

on East Lindsey District Council's Statement of Accounts for 2021/22 was nearing its conclusion and the outcome would be reported in due course.

 In relation to the Council's failure to comply with its complaints and Freedom of Information request procedures, Mazars had to consider whether to accept this as a formal objection on East Lindsey District Council's Statement of Accounts for 2021/22. Mr Surridge confirmed that it did not meet the requirements for Mazars to investigate.

Value for Money work was ongoing that included an assessment of arrangements that the Council had in place around financial planning, financial management and governance and risk.

Members were invited to put their comments and questions forward.

 A Member raised a concern with regards to Invest East Lindsey (IEL) and non-compliance with the Companies Act 2006, page 59 of the Agenda refers and asked for assurance that the Council was taking action to address this and what reporting mechanisms were in place, following which it was suggested that reports were provided on a regular basis until this had been clarified.

The Section 151 Officer advised Members that she would get an update, however assured Members that a lot of work was currently underway in providing additional support for IEL.

A Member considered that due to the wording around the risks identified in the accounting and governance arrangements of IEL whether this was an area that internal audit needed to do further work on.

The Section 151 Officer advised Members that IEL was a company that had its own arrangements for accounting. There were also arrangements for internal audit in terms on the Council's arrangements and as a company it had its own arrangements and also external audit had an oversight on this as it was included in the Council's accounts. Therefore, it was considered that there were sufficient audit processes in place and it was now important to take action to address some of the particular areas and as Section 151 Officer confirmed that she was satisfied with the audit arrangements in place.

 A Member highlighted that IEL had been referred to Overview Committee for scrutiny on its governance arrangements due to a number of concerns raised by Members, however considered that action needed taking quickly and asked what action would be taken to solidify the governance around that.

Mr Surridge advised Members that Mazars had no concerns with the activities undertaken by IEL and it was the accounts they were

focussing on. For assurance, Members were advised that information was being provided by officers and highlighted that the accounts were complex and acknowledged that it would take some time to work through.

- A Member queried whether any governance issues may impact on the financial stability of the company. Mr Surridge responded that at the current time not enough work had been undertaken to fully conclude and confirmed that the lines of enquiry were not around financial stability but whether it was a technical breach in terms of documentation. The Section 151 Officer added that extra resources had been provided to get certain tasks undertaken.
- A Member highlighted that the Council had lent IEL £4.4m as detailed at Appendix A of the Q3 Treasury Management update, page 102 of the Agenda refers and queried whether this loan was in jeopardy. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that in terms of the position of the loans, IEL had been impacted by the current economic financial climate as had other businesses and the knock-on effects, for example with properties not being built out as quickly and people struggling to get mortgages. However, the timeline was what was expected and there were no concerns at the current time.

A Member highlighted her concerns with regards to Kingfisher Caravan Park (KCP) and considered that it was time that the Council faced up to the losses and ceased carrying on with schemes that were losing money. The Section 151 Officer highlighted to Members that KCP was a company that had its own directors who would raise such concerns and was not aware that any such concerns had been received. It was confirmed that the directors/shareholders were a mixed appointment of both Members and officers from ELDC.

 A Member asked for a timeline of when a final document addressing the issues from IEL would be reported to Committee. The Section 151 Officer confirmed that IEL was an area of focussed activity at the moment with resources around it to undertake the necessary actions.

No further comments or questions were received.

Following which it was,

## **RESOLVED:**

That the Audit Planning Update and Progress Report - March 2023 be noted.

# 59. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2022/23 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Christine Marshall, Section 151 Officer presented a report on the Financial Statements and Accounting Policies. The purpose of the report was to

review and approve the Accounting Policies for inclusion in the Financial Statements for 2022/23.

The Section 151 Officer advised that unless there were any major changes to accounting rules and regulations, accounting policies did not change significantly. The report presented the proposed accounting policies to be adopted for the 2021/23 financial year. The policies were prepared in line with CIPFA's Code of Practice.

Members were advised that the 2022/23 unaudited Financial Statements needed to be completed by 31 May 2023, (31 July for 2021/22 unaudited Financial Statements) and would be presented to Audit and Governance Committee when complete which would be very challenging. The accounting policies would be included within the Statements, and any minor changes made during the Statements production process would be agreed with the S151 Officer and highlighted to the Committee on this date.

It was noted that no formal consultation has been undertaken, but the Committee had the opportunity to review the accounting policies and propose amendments prior to the publication of the unaudited Financial Statements, in line with 31 May 2023 deadline. A wider consultation regarding the 31 May deadline for the unaudited Finance Statements closed on 2 March 2023 and the Council was awaiting the outcome of this, which could result in the deadline being extended for a further year.

Members were further advised that work was underway in unison with the auditors around some perceptual changes to accounting treatments. It was highlighted that this did not affect the bottom line but was more technical treatment as to how the information was presented and some of the terminology that might be used in the accounts.

Members were invited to put forward their comments and questions:

- A Member queried whether there were any significant changes to the accounting policies from previous years. The Section 151 Officer advised that she was not aware of any in particular, it was more how the information was presented.
- With regards to Policy No. 6 Business Improvement Districts, page 71 of the Agenda refers, the Section 151 Officer clarified that although the scheme was wound up in August 2022, it was included as it was relevant to the 2022/23 accounting year.
- In relation to Policy No. 7 The Local Government Pension Scheme, page 72 of the Agenda refers, and a query in relation to the discount rate of liabilities at 2.6% for 2021/22, the Section 151 Officer confirmed that the rate varied each year.
- In relation to Policy No. 24 Reserves, page 83 of the Agenda refers, a Member commented that the Council seemed to be in a very strong

position and queried whether the level of reserves was at the right level. The Section 151 Officer referred Members to the Towns Fund Projects and advised that in 2023/24 large withdrawals would be made to support these projects and also moving into 2024/25 to support the Council's programme, therefore there would be a point when the levels would significantly drop. However, there may be other plans that came in to replenish reserves over a period of time but advised caution over windfall payments that could not be relied upon as a permanent solution.

• In relation to Policy No. 11 – Heritage Assets, page 76 of the Agenda refers, a Member highlighted that Westgate Fields and land for the Arts Trail had been missed off being recorded on the land sites.

No further comments or questions were received.

The recommendations within the report were duly proposed and seconded.

Following which it was,

## **RESOLVED:**

- That following review by the Audit and Governance Committee, the Accounting Policies for 2022/23 at Appendix A be approved.
- That the land sites in Policy No. 11 Heritage Assets be updated.

## **60. Q3 TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE:**

Christine Marshall, Section 151 Officer presented Members with the Quarter 3 Treasury Management Update, pages 85 to 108 of the Agenda refer to provide the Committee with the 2022/23 Quarter 3 update on the Council's Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy for the period ending 31 December 2022.

Significant activity was highlighted to Members as follows:

- Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 1.98% compared to the benchmark average 3-month Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) rate of 2.284%.
- Property fund investments were estimated to have achieved an average net rate of 3.393%.
- The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 2.44%.
- The outturn for investment income for 2022/23 was forecast to be £2.6m which would be £1.3m above budget. This would be monitored on a monthly basis to reflect changing market conditions.

Further to the report, Members received a presentation from the Section 151 Officer, a copy is attached at Appendix B to the Minutes.

Members were invited to put their comments and questions forward.

- A Member highlighted her concerns with placing investments for a 12-month period due to the current uncertain financial climate and the risk involved and queried whether this aligned with the need to put security first. The Section 151 Officer responded that cash investments were stepped and referred Members to the table on Appendix A, page 101 of the Agenda refers. When the investment matured it was a judgement call on where to place investments, depending on the prevailing market rates at that moment in time. In 2022, the financial market was very volatile, therefore the Council did short stepping to take advantage of 3, 6, 9 and 12-month steps. The current forecast was more of a plateaued position, however there could be some longer-term volatility.
- A query was raised on property fund returns and with the decline in the housing market queried what impact this would have on the Council's commercial property portfolio. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that property funds were mainly invested in business and retail and was not anticipating any housing market impacts. Currently, business owners were doing a lot of refresh amongst their assets and looking at how they might bring them into a more viable use by making them into smaller units post Covid. In addition, a lot of pension funds owned these assets and wouldn't be in alongside the Council with these if they did not see them as a long-term income driver and investment opportunity.
- With regards to the placement of treasury deposits, a Member raised concerns with the exposure to crypto currency that had negatively impacted on banks worldwide and hoped that the Council intended to watch this carefully.
- A Member highlighted that the Council still had an investment in the First Abu Dhabi Bank and queried whether it was the Council's intention not to further invest in middle eastern countries. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that this would be re-visited when the funds came to mature and the assessment process for those banks that the Council was placing funds with would be looked at, including what holdings they had in certain areas.
- A Member referred to two investments that had matured in January and March 2023, page 101 of the Agenda refers and queried at what return they would have been reinvested. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that she would provide a response after the meeting.
- The loans to Invest East Lindsey (IEL) were highlighted at page 102 of the Agenda and a query was raised on when the 2-year £1.5m Housing Development Loan started and finished and also what period the 'short-

term' cash flow loan for £1.25m referred to. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that she would get the detail and circulate to Members after the meeting.

- A Member queried how long it would take IEL to repay the loans to the Council. With regards to the £1.5m housing development loan, the Section 151 Officer explained how the 'build and sell' model worked and was common with other authorities across the country and a high level of loan was normal for a housing development company. Therefore, it was expected that all of the loans would be repaid when the houses were sold, whereby the developer profits would also be looked at as the arrangement ended.
- A Member commented that IEL had various assets, for example KCP and queried who owned the assets. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that the Council owned the land.
- A Member queried whether it was cheaper to borrow money rather than to place it in investments and what the difference was between the two, for example the difference paid in interest on what was owed against the interest received on investments. The Section 151 Officer explained that the Council could look at a premature redemption as interest rates went up, when the prevailing interest rate exceeded the rate that the loan was at. This meant that the Council could get a premium or discount and put it back into the system that would reduce how much had to be paid back, however considered the PWLB debt to be very good value and as cash came back it also provided funding for future opportunities.
- A Member queried whether the PWLB Loans carried an early repayment penalty. The Section 151 Officer advised that they did not and the PWLB would give the Council a discount at the current rates if it was to redeem early at this point in time.

No further comments or questions were received.

Following which it was,

**RESOLVED:** 

That the Q3 Treasury Management Update be noted.

# **61. RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT:**

Suzanne Rolfe, Group Manager - Insights and Transformation presented Members with the Risk Management Report, pages 109 to 116 of the Agenda refer to provide Members with an overview of Risk Management within the authority.

Members were advised that the Strategic Risk Register had been reviewed at the quarterly risk clinic and by Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and the

report provided Members with the Quarter 3 position statement as at 31 December 2022. Members were informed that a draft Risk Management Framework for the Partnership was currently in development and would be presented to Committee for discussion and review following input from Internal Audit. This would set out arrangements for risk appetite and changes to reporting such as heat maps and direction of travel, Paragraph 1 of the Agenda refers.

The summary of changes to the Risk Register was detailed at Paragraph 2, page 110 of the Agenda refers.

The Group Manager - Insights and Transformation advised Members that she had noted the items picked up at Item 6 with regards to the health and safety risk and the reference to the annual audit plan and would ask the lead officer to review the wording on that.

Members were invited to put their comments and questions forward.

- A Member asked that now the office relocation project was complete
  whether there had been a best value assessment, particularly
  protection against the estimated cost and the actual cost of the move.
  The Group Manager Insights and Transformation advised Members
  that she would ask the question and respond after the meeting.
- A Member commented that there were still a number of risks on the register that related to Covid, however there were less that related to current risks, for example the economic risks as a result of the war in Ukraine, Brexit, high inflation and climate change. The Group Manager -Insights and Transformation advised Members that she would feed this back.
- A Member queried if there was a timescale for the new version of the risk register. The Group Manager - Insights and Transformation advised Members that the audit was underway and expected to receive feedback soon and would keep Members informed on the progress.
- A Member referred to the difficulties around the increasing costs of internal drainage board levies which impacted on CORP002 'Uncertainty of future Lincshore flood defence scheme', page 113 of the Agenda refers. Due to the significance of this and the fact that this had been raised with government to address, it was queried whether it should be on the register as a separate risk. Further to this, the Chairman considered whether this could be covered under CORP001 'Reduction in government funding to deliver Council services and local priorities'. The Section 151 Officer advised Members that the levies were originally funded through the Revenue Support Grants, so strictly speaking it was a reduction of the grant funding over a period of time that had resulted in the IDB pressures.

A Member added that following recent scrutiny on caravan sites, the Lincolnshire Fire Officer interviewed had been working closely with the Environment Agency Strategic Lead and could not stress enough that it was not if, but when the coast flooded and would continue to bring this up as a matter of great importance. The Group Manager - Insights and Transformation responded that she would take the comments back for consideration.

A Member highlighted that he was aware that all insurance companies were now refusing to offer equity home loans in coastal zones from the beginning of 2023.

- In relation to CORP0012 'Technology infrastructure failure' it was highlighted that the likelihood was scored at '2' and the impact was '5' and considered that the likelihood should be increased to at least a '3'. It was requested that this be reconsidered and also incorporated within the audit scope as well to look at in terms of technology failing. The Group Manager Insights and Transformation advised Members that she would refer back the comments for the wording in the score.
- A Member asked whether amendments to the risk register could be highlighted in bold text so Members could more easily see where updates had been made. It was further requested that the font size be increased. The Group Manager - Insights and Transformation advised Members that this would be actioned for the next report.
- A Member further requested that the matrix table be included on the next report for ease of reference.

There were no further comments or questions received.

Following which it was,

**RESOLVED** 

That the Risk Management Report be noted.

## **62. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23:**

Members were presented with the Audit & Governance Committee Work Programme 2022/23 and noted the items that had been presented to Committee during the municipal year, together with the items that were proposed to be carried over to the following year.

Members were advised that a meeting would be convened in April 2023 with a view to setting the 2023/24 Work Programme in alignment with the Audit and Governance Committees across the Partnership.

With regards to a report on the Review of Effectiveness of Audit and Governance Committee, the Section 151 Officer advised Members that there would be a comprehensive training programme for all Members of the Committee following the May 2023 Elections.

Following which it was,

**RESOLVED:** 

That the Work Programme 2022/23 be noted.

# **63. DATE OF NEXT MEETING:**

The date of the next Meeting will be confirmed at the AGM to be held on 24 May 2023.

The meeting closed at 11.56 am.